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 i 

CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES, RULINGS, AND RELATED CASES 

Pursuant to this Court’s October 11, 2012 Order and Circuit Rule 28(a)(1), 

Petitioner Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”) respectfully submits its Certificate As To 

Parties, Rulings, And Related Cases. 

A. Parties  

 There were no proceedings in the district court.  The following are the 

parties to this proceeding. 

Petitioner: 
 
WALGREEN CO. 
200 Wilmot Road 
Deerfield, IL 60015 
 

Respondents:  
 
ERIC H. HOLDER, JR., in his official capacity as the Attorney General 
of the United States 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530 
 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20530 
 
MICHELE M. LEONHART, in her official capacity as Administrator of 
the Drug Enforcement Administration 
8701 Morrissette Drive 
Springfield, Virginia 22152 
 
DRUG ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION 
8701 Morrissette Drive 
Springfield, Virginia 22152 
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 ii 

B. Ruling Under Review 

The ruling under review is an immediate suspension order (“ISO”) of the 

Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) issued September 13, 2012 that 

immediately suspended the Certificate of Registration of Walgreens’ distribution 

center in Jupiter, Florida under the Controlled Substances Act.  The ISO has not 

been published in the Federal Register and is not publicly available.  On November 

28, 2012, this Court granted Walgreens’ motion for leave to file the ISO under 

seal.     

C. Related Cases 

This case has not previously been before any court.  An administrative 

proceeding on DEA’s permanent revocation of Walgreens’ registration to 

distribute controlled substances is now pending before a DEA Administrative Law 

Judge.  See In the Matter of Walgreen Co., No. 13-1 (DEA filed Sept. 13, 2012).  

Walgreens also filed, in the Eastern District of Virginia, a motion to compel DEA 

to return two privileged documents that were inadvertently disclosed by its Florida 

counsel in the course of the investigation that resulted in issuance of the ISO.  On 

December 21, 2012, the court denied Walgreens’ motion for lack of subject-matter 

jurisdiction and the absence of a cause of action, but did not rule on the merits of 

the privilege claim.  See Mem. Op., In re Admin. Subpoena, No. 1:12-mc-00043 

(E.D. Va. filed Dec. 21, 2012).  Walgreens is considering its further options.   
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 iii 

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure and D.C. 

Circuit Rule 26.1, Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”) hereby states: 

Walgreens, the nation’s largest pharmacy chain, is a publicly traded 

corporation and has no parent company.  No publicly held corporation owns 10% 

or more of its stock.   
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INTRODUCTION 

This case involves an abuse of the extraordinary power that the Drug 

Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) wields over ordinary citizens and businesses 

in the fight against diversion of certain prescription drugs.  In exigent 

circumstances, the Controlled Substances Act (“CSA”) authorizes DEA to take 

immediate action to address an “imminent danger” to the public.  21 U.S.C. 

§824(d) (emphasis added).  Invoking that limited authority here, DEA suspended 

the registration of Walgreen Co.’s (“Walgreens”) distribution center in Jupiter, 

Florida (the “Jupiter Facility”), which distributes medications to more than 850 

Walgreens retail pharmacies.  DEA issued the immediate suspension order (“ISO”) 

summarily, without giving Walgreens any prior notice or opportunity to be heard.  

But DEA’s justification for the ISO violated its own regulations and relied on 

unreasonable assumptions and obsolete, year-old data.  Had DEA instead properly 

considered the latest data from 2012, it could not have genuinely concluded that 

there was an “imminent danger” to the public.  The ISO was arbitrary, capricious, 

and contrary to law, and it must be set aside.   

DEA’s power to suspend a registrant’s right to distribute controlled 

substances—immediately, and without prior notice or a hearing—is extraordinary.  

It can have enormously disruptive consequences for patients, who depend on 

pharmacies (and, by extension, their distributors) for reliable access to medications 
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2 

prescribed by doctors to alleviate their suffering and restore their health.  

Immediate suspension of a registration can also impose severe financial harm on a 

registrant, who must instantly cease conducting business as usual.  Congress 

recognized the danger that DEA might abuse this expansive power, and it granted 

this Court the authority to review any ISO to ensure compliance with applicable 

law.  See 21 U.S.C. §§824(d), 877. 

The ISO at issue here illustrates the need for careful oversight of DEA’s 

immediate suspension authority.  First, the ISO’s legal analysis violated DEA’s 

own regulations.  Those regulations carefully limit DEA’s discretion to take action 

against distributors by establishing the specific steps they must take to guard 

against diversion of controlled substances.  DEA ignored this limit on its authority 

and imposed new obligations on distributors above and beyond the ones explicitly 

set forth in the regulations.  This Court should not allow DEA to defy the plain 

meaning of its binding regulations to expand its own power. 

The ISO’s “imminent danger” analysis was also fatally flawed.  DEA relied 

heavily on statistical data showing that shipments of oxycodone to Walgreens’ 

Florida pharmacies increased from 2010 to 2011.  DEA erred by assuming—

without any basis in the record or common sense—that all of this growth was due 

to illegitimate diversion.  DEA ignored the fact that much of the new demand for 

oxycodone at pharmacies was legitimate, stemming from 2010 and 2011 changes 
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in Florida law that prevented patients from obtaining pain medicine directly from 

doctors and clinics and forcing them to fill their prescriptions at pharmacies.  

DEA also erred in relying on stale data from 2010-2011 to establish the 

existence of an “imminent danger” in September 2012, when it issued the ISO.  By 

that later time—as DEA well knew—Walgreens’ own policies had driven down its 

distribution of oxycodone to substantially lower levels, and Walgreens had 

voluntarily ceased dispensing oxycodone altogether from all six pharmacies 

addressed in the ISO.  If DEA can establish an “imminent” danger by making 

speculative predictions based entirely on alleged past conduct—even when such 

alleged conduct has indisputably abated—then its ISO authority extends to every 

case in which it seeks permanent revocation.  This is obviously not what Congress 

had in mind when it granted DEA emergency ISO powers.  

No one doubts that DEA has an important responsibility to fight prescription 

drug abuse, or that DEA is working very hard to succeed in that effort.  But DEA 

remains subject to the law—especially when exercising its extraordinary power to 

deprive registrants of their rights without advance notice under §824(d).  DEA’s 

finding of “imminent danger” in this case was tainted by significant legal and 

factual errors.  This Court should grant Walgreens’ petition and vacate the ISO.    
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The CSA grants this Court jurisdiction over challenges to “[a]ll final 

determinations, findings, and conclusions” made by DEA, including those 

embodied in an ISO.  21 U.S.C. §877.  DEA’s contrary position misreads both 

§877 and this Court’s controlling decision in John Doe, Inc. v. DEA, 484 F.3d 561 

(D.C. Cir. 2007).  DEA’s motion to transfer the case to the district court should be 

denied.  

A. This Court Has Jurisdiction Under The Controlled Substances 
Act 

Section 877 of the CSA reads, in relevant part, as follows: 

All final determinations, findings, and conclusions of the 
Attorney General under this subchapter [21 U.S.C. 
§§801-904] shall be final and conclusive decisions of the 
matters involved, except that any person aggrieved by a 
final decision of the Attorney General may obtain review 
of the decision in the United States Court of Appeals for 
the District of Columbia or for the circuit in which his 
principal place of business is located…. 

21 U.S.C. §877.  By its plain terms, the provision grants this Court jurisdiction 

over this case so long as the ISO is (1) a “determination,” “finding,” or 

“conclusion” of the Attorney General under 21 U.S.C. §§801-904; and (2) “final.”  

Both conditions are satisfied here. 

First, there is no question that the ISO is a “determination” of the Attorney 

General, containing both “findings” and “conclusions,” under the relevant 

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 19 of 81



5 

subchapter.  A determination is “‘[a] final decision by a court or administrative 

agency.’”  Doe, 484 F.3d at 568 (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary).  The ISO 

reflects the DEA Administrator’s decision to suspend Walgreens’ registration to 

distribute controlled substances from the Jupiter Facility, effective immediately.  

AR-Ex. 198 (“ISO”) at 1, 12 (JA___).  She based her decision on numerous 

findings—most importantly, her “finding” that Walgreens’ continued registration 

would pose an “imminent danger” to the public under 21 U.S.C. §824(d).  Id.  

Moreover, she issued the ISO under the relevant subchapter of Title 21 (which 

includes the CSA’s “Control and Enforcement” provisions) and pursuant to 

authority delegated by the Attorney General.  See 28 C.F.R. §0.100(b).  Notably, 

DEA does not dispute that the ISO is a “determination[]” containing “findings” 

and “conclusions” under §877. 

Second, the ISO is indisputably “final.”  In Doe, this Court held that whether 

a decision is “final” for purposes of §877 turns on whether it is “final” for purposes 

of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §704.  Doe, 484 F.3d at 

565-67 & n.4 (applying APA’s finality standard to §877 after noting that “[w]e see 

no reason … that the word ‘final’ in §877 should be interpreted differently than the 

word final in the APA,” and that “the cases applying the finality aspect of the APA 

guide us in construing finality under [§877]”); cf. Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass’ns, 
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531 U.S. 457, 478 (2001) (holding that finality requirement in Clean Air Act is 

identical to that in the APA).   

Under the APA, a decision is final when (1) it “mark[s] the consummation 

of the agency’s decisionmaking process,” and (2) it is one “by which rights or 

obligations have been determined, or from which legal consequences will flow.”  

Doe, 484 F.3d at 566 (citation omitted).  Here, DEA rightly concedes that the ISO 

is final under the APA standard.  Mot. to Transfer Matter to Fed. Dist. Ct. at 9 

(Nov. 19, 2012) (“Mot. to Transfer”) (declaring that ISO is “final agency action” 

under APA).  The ISO marks the consummation of DEA’s decision making 

process because it was issued by the Administrator and is “not subject to further 

agency review.”  Sackett v. EPA, 132 S. Ct. 1367, 1372 (2012); see also Lawrence 

Lerner, M.D., Revocation of Registration, 54 Fed. Reg. 8014, 8015 (Feb. 24, 1989) 

(noting that Administrative Law Judge lacks authority to review issuance of ISO).  

The ISO also determines legal rights; indeed, its whole purpose was to suspend—

immediately—Walgreens’ lawful authority to distribute controlled substances.  See 

21 U.S.C. §824(d), (f). 

Notably, if the ISO were not final for APA purposes, then it could never be 

challenged anywhere.  See Doe, 484 F.3d at 565 (noting that lack of finality under 

5 U.S.C. §704 would “effectively [deny Doe] any judicial review of [DEA 

action]”).  This would of course nullify Congress’s clear desire to subject ISOs to 
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judicial review.  See 21 U.S.C. §824(d) (noting that an ISO may be “dissolved by a 

court of competent jurisdiction”).   

Under Doe, the fact that the ISO is final for APA purposes makes it final 

under §877 as well.  484 F.3d at 566-67 & n.4.  This Court accordingly has 

jurisdiction over Walgreens’ petition for review. 

B. DEA’s Claim That An ISO Is Not “Final” Misreads §877 And Is 
Foreclosed By Doe 

DEA’s entire challenge to this Court’s jurisdiction rests on its claim that the 

ISO—despite being “final agency action” under the APA—is not final for purposes 

of §877.  See Mot. to Transfer at 8-9.  DEA asserts that Doe “acknowledged” that 

the “final agency action” requirement in §704 of the APA “may be somewhat 

broader” than the “final determinations, findings, [or] conclusions” requirement in 

§877 of the CSA.  Id. at 9.  Though DEA does not offer its own definition of 

“final” in §877, it argues that the ISO does not count as “final” under that 

provision because the ISO will expire as soon as DEA issues its ruling in a pending 

administrative proceeding addressing whether or not to revoke the Jupiter 

Facility’s registration on a permanent basis.  Id. at 7-8. 

DEA is mistaken.  For one thing, there is no reasonable basis for any 

distinction between the term “final” in the APA’s “final agency action” 

requirement and the same term in the CSA’s phrase “final determinations, findings, 

[or] conclusions.”  See 5 U.S.C. §704; 21 U.S.C. §877.  In Doe, this Court 
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characterized as “implausible” any such distinction, in light of “the plain terms of 

the two provisions.”  484 F.3d at 568.  DEA’s motion offers no reason to question 

this Court’s assessment in Doe or otherwise to ascribe different meanings to the 

same word “final” in the two provisions.  

Doe recognized that, to the extent there is any daylight between the two 

standards, it relates not to the meaning of the word “final,” but rather only to 

whether the term “agency action” in the APA is synonymous with, or instead 

broader than, the phrase “determinations, findings, [or] conclusions” in §877.   

For this reason, DEA’s reliance on Part III of Doe is badly misplaced.    See 

Mot. to Transfer at 8-9.  Part II of that decision addressed finality and 

unambiguously applied the APA standard to §877.  See generally Doe, 484 F.3d at 

565-67 & n.4; id. at 568 (noting that the Court in Part II had “concluded the DEA’s 

[action] was sufficiently final to permit judicial review” (emphasis added)).  Part 

III of the decision went on to consider whether the agency action in question—

already deemed final—was also a “determination[], finding[], [or] conclusion[]” 

under §877.  Id. at 568-70 (alterations in original) (critiquing district court 

decisions “discern[ing] some play in the joints between ‘agency action’ under the 

APA and DEA ‘determinations, findings, and conclusions’ under 21 U.S.C. 

§877”).  And as explained, DEA does not dispute that the ISO contains 

“determinations, findings, or conclusions.”   
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In any event, DEA’s actual theory as to why the ISO is not final does not 

withstand scrutiny under any standard.  DEA points to the fact that the ISO is 

merely an “interim measure” that will automatically terminate at the end of the 

administrative proceedings addressing the permanent revocation of Walgreens’ 

registration.  Mot. to Transfer at 8-9.  But the fact that the ISO is of limited 

duration is beside the point:  The administrative proceeding will not re-examine 

DEA’s “imminent danger” finding under §824(d), and the ISO is having a direct, 

immediate, and irrevocable effect on Walgreens’ legal rights right now.  As this 

Court has recognized—in closely analogous circumstances—that is enough to 

make the ISO final.  See Envtl. Def. Fund, Inc. v. Ruckelshaus, 439 F.2d 584, 590-

92 (D.C. Cir. 1971) (holding that agency decision on whether or not to temporarily 

suspend pesticide registration, for duration of administrative proceedings and on 

grounds of “imminent hazard” to public, was sufficiently “final” to warrant judicial 

review under Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act).1 

Doe declared that unless there is a “‘firm indication’” that Congress intended 

to locate initial review of agency action in the district court, this Court “‘will not 
                                           

1  DEA’s argument that the ISO is not final because it will expire upon 
completion of the permanent revocation proceedings is obviously in tension with 
its conclusion that the ISO is final for purposes of APA review in the district court.  
It is also inconsistent with Congress’s treatment of a district court’s decision to 
detain an accused criminal for the duration of his trial as a final decision for 
purposes of appeal.  See 18 U.S.C. §3145(c) (making district court’s denial of a 
request for bail under the Bail Reform Act immediately appealable as a “final 
decision” under 28 U.S.C. §1291). 
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presume that Congress intended to depart from the sound policy of placing initial 

APA review in the courts of appeals.’”  484 F.3d at 570 (quoting Fla. Power & 

Light Co. v. Lorion, 470 U.S. 729, 745 (1985)).  There is no such “firm indication” 

here.  Rather, §824(d) recognizes that an ISO may be dissolved by “a court of 

competent jurisdiction,” and §877 makes clear that only “the United States Court 

of Appeals for the District of Columbia or for the circuit in which his principal 

place of business is located” has such jurisdiction.  DEA’s motion to transfer this 

case to district court should be denied.  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether the ISO must be set aside because it violates the Controlled 

Substances Act or its implementing regulations, or is otherwise arbitrary and 

capricious or contrary to law. 

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND REGULATIONS 

Relevant constitutional provisions, statutes, and regulations are reproduced 

in the attached Addendum (“ADD-”).   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Controlled Substances Act And DEA’s Regulatory Scheme 

The CSA creates a “closed regulatory system making it unlawful to 

manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess any controlled substance except in a 

manner authorized by the CSA.”  Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 13 (2005); 21 
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U.S.C. §§841(a)(1), 844(a).  The CSA groups controlled substances into five 

schedules based on “their accepted medical uses, the potential for abuse, and their 

psychological and physical effects on the body.”  Raich, 545 U.S. at 13; see 21 

U.S.C. §812.  Each schedule is subject to a “distinct set of controls” regarding their 

manufacture, distribution, and use.  See 21 U.S.C. §§821-830. 

Under the CSA, one who seeks to manufacture, distribute, or dispense 

controlled substances must obtain a registration from the DEA Administrator, who 

exercises authority delegated by the Attorney General.  Id. §§822, 841; 28 C.F.R. 

§0.100(b).  Each type of registrant—manufacturers, distributors, physicians, 

pharmacists, etc.—must obtain a separate CSA registration and becomes subject to 

a different set of obligations depending upon its particular role.  A registration to 

distribute controlled substances must be renewed annually.  21 U.S.C. §822(a).   

DEA must grant a distributor’s application for a registration “unless [it] 

determines that the issuance of such registration is inconsistent with the public 

interest.”  Id. §823(b), (e).  The CSA enumerates a list of specific factors DEA 

must consider when determining whether this public interest standard is met, 

including the “maintenance of effective control against diversion of particular 

controlled substances into other than legitimate medical, scientific, and industrial 

channels.”  Id. §823(b)(1), (e)(1). 
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DEA regulations specify in detail how distributors must satisfy this 

requirement to maintain “effective control” against diversion of controlled 

substances.  21 C.F.R. §1301.71(a); see generally id. §§1301.71-1301.77 (setting 

forth “Security Requirements” for registrants).  They note that 

In order to determine whether a registrant has provided 
effective control against diversion, the Administrator 
shall use the security requirements set forth in 
§§1301.72-1301.76 as standards for the physical security 
controls and operating procedures necessary to prevent 
diversion. 

Id. §1301.71(a).   

Of the provisions cross-referenced in §1301.71(a), the only one directly 

relevant to this case is §1301.74.2  That section addresses non-physical “security 

controls” that manufacturers and distributors must implement in order to maintain 

effective controls against diversion.  Most importantly, §1301.74(b) imposes two 

obligations on distributors.  First, distributors must “design and operate a system to 

disclose to the registrant suspicious orders of controlled substances.”  Id. 

§1301.74(b).  Second, they must inform DEA of suspicious orders “when 

discovered.”  Id.  The subsection defines “suspicious orders” to include “orders of 

                                           
2  Section 1301.72 addresses the various “[p]hysical security controls” that 

distributors and other registrants must employ when storing controlled substances.  
Sections 1301.73, 1301.75, and 1301.76 provide additional rules applicable to 
manufacturers and pharmacies.   
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unusual size, orders deviating substantially from a normal pattern, and orders of 

unusual frequency.”  Id. 

Nothing in §1301.74 mandates that a distributor put suspicious orders on 

hold or conduct a forensic investigation of the pharmacy’s dispensing activity (and 

the pharmacists’ professional judgments regarding particular prescriptions) before 

shipping.  By contrast, several subsections of §1301.74 expressly bar distributors 

from shipping controlled substances in other circumstances.  See id. §1301.74(a) 

(barring transfers “to any person who the registrant does not know to be registered 

to possess” the substance unless the distributor first has made “a good faith 

inquiry” with DEA or state authorities as to whether the recipient possesses such 

registration); id. §1301.74(d) (barring certain transfers of free samples of drugs); 

id. §1301.74(g) (barring certain transfers of specific chemicals).  Section 1301.74’s 

remaining provisions impose additional reporting and security requirements that 

are not directly at issue in this case.3   

Under the CSA, DEA may revoke or suspend a distributor’s registration in 

certain specified circumstances.  These include when the distributor “has 

committed such acts as would render his registration … inconsistent with the 

                                           
3  See, e.g., 21 C.F.R. §1301.74(c) (requiring distributors to inform DEA of 

thefts or significant losses of controlled substances “within one business day of 
discovery of the theft or loss”); id. §1301.74(e)-(f) (security controls relating to 
shipping); id. §1301.74(h)-(l) (additional rules governing distribution to drug 
treatment programs). 
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public interest as determined under such section.”  21 U.S.C. §824(a)(4).  Before 

suspending or revoking a registration, however, DEA must serve the distributor 

with an order to show cause and provide an opportunity for a hearing.  Id. §824(c).  

DEA bears the burden of proving that one of the statutory bases for revocation has 

been met.  21 C.F.R. §1301.44(e). 

The CSA also grants DEA authority to “suspend any registration 

simultaneously with the institution of proceedings” to revoke a distributor’s 

registration.  21 U.S.C. §824(d); see also 21 C.F.R. §1301.36(e).  Such immediate 

suspension—which takes place without any prior hearing—is permitted only if the 

Administrator “finds that there is an imminent danger to the public health or 

safety.”  21 U.S.C. §824(d) (emphasis added).  An ISO remains in effect until the 

conclusion of the underlying administrative revocation proceeding, unless it is 

withdrawn by the Administrator or dissolved by a court.  Id. 

B. Walgreens’ Florida Distribution Operations And Its Good-Faith 
Efforts To Prevent The Diversion Of Controlled Substances 

Walgreens is a nationwide pharmacy chain serving more than 6.3 million 

customers each day.  Walgreens, “Financial and Other Numbers”, available at 

http://news.walgreens.com/article_display.cfm?article_id=1047 (last visited Dec. 

19, 2012).  It operates more than 7,800 retail pharmacies across the United States, 

employing roughly 27,000 pharmacists and filling nearly 800 million prescriptions 

each year.  ISO at 2 (JA___); Walgreen Co. Annual Report (Form 10-K) (Oct. 19, 
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2012), available at http://investor.walgreens.com/secfiling.cfm?filingID=104207-

12-98.  Walgreens supplies its pharmacies with prescription drugs from thirteen 

distribution centers that it owns and operates across the country.4  Each distribution 

center and pharmacy is separately registered with DEA. 

This case involves Walgreens’ distribution center in Jupiter, Florida.  Until 

recently, the Jupiter Facility distributed controlled substances to more than 850 

Walgreens pharmacies in Florida and surrounding states.  Collectively, those 

pharmacies dispense almost one third of all prescription drugs in Florida.  

One of the drugs that the Jupiter Facility has historically distributed to 

pharmacies is oxycodone, a Schedule II analgesic that is often prescribed for 

management of acute or chronic pain.  Oxycodone and similar medications have 

helped treat the suffering of countless patients with terminal cancer, painful 

neurological conditions, chronic migraines, degenerative spinal diseases, severe 

fractures, and other conditions.   

DEA has recognized that “the overwhelming majority of American 

physicians who prescribe controlled substances do so for legitimate medical 

purposes” and “in a legitimate manner.”  Dispensing Controlled Substances for 

Treatment of Pain, 71 Fed. Reg. 52,716, 52,719 (Sept. 6, 2006); see also id. at 

52,718 (“[M]ost physicians provide appropriate amounts of pain medication.”); id. 
                                           

4  The ISO incorrectly states that Walgreens owns and operates twelve 
distribution centers.  See ISO at 1 (JA___). 
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at 52,720 (noting that “the percentage of physicians who prescribe controlled 

substances improperly” is “extremely small”).  Florida law likewise recognizes the 

rights of patients with legitimate medical needs to receive such medication.  See, 

e.g., Fla. Admin. Code r. 64B8-9.013.   

Due to the high demand for medical services from Florida’s unique 

demographic population, specialty clinics dedicated to helping patients manage 

severe pain have long operated in Florida.  Historically, Florida law permitted 

these clinics (and physicians generally) both to prescribe pain medications and to 

dispense them directly to patients, without any need for the patient to obtain the 

drugs from a pharmacy.  See Fla. Stat. §465.0276 (1997).   

In 2008 and 2009, however, there was a significant rise in the number of 

pain-management clinics registered in Florida.  According to DEA, many such 

clinics were run by unscrupulous doctors who prescribed and dispensed large 

quantities of medications to drug abusers without any legitimate medical basis.  

See Statement of Joseph T. Rannazzisi to the Caucus on International Narcotics 

Control at 6-7 (July 18, 2012), available at http://www.justice.gov/ 

dea/pr/speeches-testimony/2012-2009/responding-to-prescription-drug-abuse.pdf; 

Statement of Michele M. Leonhart to the U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee, 

Subcommittee on Crime and Terrorism at 7 (May 24, 2011), available at 

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 31 of 81



17 

http://www.justice.gov/dea/pr/speeches-testimony/2012-2009/110524_ 

testimony.pdf.   

DEA responded by launching a series of enforcement actions resulting in the 

surrender of dozens of DEA registrations and millions of dollars in asset seizures 

and fines.  Leonhart Statement at 9-10.  In 2010-11, the Florida legislature enacted 

several laws increasing regulation of pain clinics generally, and virtually 

eliminating physicians’ authority to dispense Schedule II drugs from their clinics 

or offices.  See 2010 Fla. Laws ch. 211 (amending Fla. Stat. §465.0276(1)(b) and 

restricting authority to dispense more than 72-hour supply to most patients); 2011 

Fla. Laws ch. 141 (amending same provision and ending authority to dispense in 

virtually all circumstances).  As a result, the wholesale distribution of oxycodone 

to doctors and clinics plummeted from over 8,000,000 dosage units in May 2010 to 

roughly 200,000 units by October 2010.   
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Chart #1: Monthly Oxycodone Sales to Practitioners, 2009-2010  
(Leonhart Statement at 10): 

 

 

A major side effect of these developments was to drive patients—who could 

no longer rely on their doctors or clinics to supply their medications directly—to 

take their prescriptions to be filled at pharmacies.  See, e.g., AR-Ex. 147 at 15777-

78, 15780 (JA___); AR-Ex. 148 at 16663, 17020 (JA___).  As DEA has 

acknowledged, Florida pharmacies “experienced a substantial increase in requests 

to dispense controlled substances.”  Declaration of DEA Counsel Scott Lawson 

¶10, In re Admin. Subpoena, No. 1:12-mc-43 (E.D. Va. filed Nov. 16, 2012), ECF 

No. 34-2 (Exh. A to DEA Opp. to Mot. to Compel Return of Documents).  

May 2010 

October 2010 
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Walgreens’ stores were no exception to this growth in demand.  From late 

2010 through mid-2011, some of its pharmacies received growing numbers of 

prescriptions for oxycodone, almost all of which was supplied by the Jupiter 

Facility.  See ISO at 2 (JA___).   

Chart #2: Trends at Eight Walgreens’ Pharmacies Dispensing  
High Volumes of Oxycodone, 2010-2012 (AR-Ex. 229 at 37080 (JA___)): 

 

 

The rapid shift in demand for oxycodone placed the pharmacies in an 

extraordinarily difficult position.  On the one hand, they strived to continue filling 

valid prescriptions from licensed physicians, so as to meet the genuine medical 

needs of legitimate patients.  On the other, they also sought to prevent diversion of 

drugs to substance abusers who had counterfeit prescriptions or had obtained 

facially-valid prescriptions from unscrupulous (but licensed) doctors.   

August 2010 

August 2011 

June 2012 

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 34 of 81



20 

Because many of these prescriptions had previously been filled in clinics or 

doctors’ offices, pharmacists often had limited prior experience with individual 

patients and their conditions, and with many of the physcians prescribing the 

medication.  Moreover, they had to make difficult dispensing decisions without 

clear standards from DEA, which has acknowledged that “there are no definitive 

criteria” for prescribing and dispensing controlled substances for acute, chronic 

pain, and that “one cannot provide an exhaustive and foolproof  list of ‘dos and 

don’ts.’”  See Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain, 71 Fed. 

Reg. at 52,719.  As the head of the Florida Pharmacy Association candidly 

acknowledged at the time, “[p]harmacies are struggling to deal with the influx of 

customers who used to rely on pain clinics to get controlled drugs.”  Timothy W. 

Martin & Arian Campo-Flores, New Front Opens in Florida Pill War, Wall St. J., 

Mar. 7, 2012, at A6, available at http://online.wsj.com/ 

article/SB10001424052970203961204577267310025935508.html; see also, e.g., 

AR-Ex. 147 at 15777-79 (JA___), AR-Ex. 148 at 16789, 16932, 17020-21 (JA___) 

(contemporaneous emails from Walgreens pharmacists explaining challenges of 

distinguishing valid from illegitimate prescriptions). 

In response to the growth of new prescriptions, Walgreens sought to enhance 

pre-existing anti-diversion controls at its various pharmacies.  ISO at 10 (JA___); 

see generally, e.g., AR-Ex. 146 at 15299-329, 15336-37 (JA___); AR-Ex. 147 at 
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16129-32 (JA___); AR-Ex. 148 at 16606, 16766 (JA___); AR-Ex. 155 at 17101-

02, 17111-16 (JA___); AR-Exs. 170-76 (JA___).  Out of an abundance of caution, 

its pharmacists regularly turned away patients bearing prescriptions for oxycodone 

and other substances, and Walgreens developed a reputation among drug abusers 

as a company that was taking a particularly hard line against diversion.  Scott 

Hiaasen, Walgreen Pharmacies Draw Scrutiny in Florida Pill Investigation, The 

Miami Herald, Apr. 6, 2012 (noting that undercover law enforcement agents have 

“overheard nurses coaching pill-seeking patients to avoid bringing their 

prescriptions to Walgreen stores” and calling Walgreens “the enemy”).  

Throughout this period, Walgreens’ Jupiter Facility also submitted monthly reports 

notifying DEA of potentially suspicious orders (exceeding prior pharmacy ordering 

quantities) from the relevant pharmacies, as required by 21 C.F.R. §1301.74(b).  

ISO at 4 (JA___); AR-Exs. 177-85. 

Walgreens’ and other Florida pharmacies’ best efforts to sort out legitimate 

patients from potential abusers were inevitably imperfect.  Customers filed often 

heart-wrenching complaints with Walgreens’ management explaining their medical 

conditions and valid need for the treatments, and lamenting Walgreens’ reluctance 

to dispense their medications.  See, e.g., AR-Ex. 146 at 15362-71, 15382-84, 

15394, 15399-400, 15407-10, 15414-16 (JA___).  On the other hand, DEA has 
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alleged that a number of patients with facially valid prescriptions nonetheless 

diverted medications they purchased to improper uses.  

Overall, however, Walgreens’ anti-diversion efforts indisputably succeeded 

in stemming the tide of oxycodone sales in 2011 and 2012.  DEA itself 

acknowledges that those efforts achieved a “significant reduction” in the 

dispensing of oxycodone and other Schedule II drugs at Walgreens’ highest-

volume stores.  ISO at 10 (JA___).  Indeed, the data clearly show massive 

reductions in oxycodone sales from those pharmacies, beginning as early as July 

2011, over a year before the ISO in this case was issued.  See Chart #2, supra at 

19.  This same pronounced reduction is evident across the 100 Walgreens 

pharmacies dispensing the highest quantities of oxycodone. See Chart #3, infra at 

23. 
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Chart #3: Shipments of Selected Drugs From Jupiter Facility to 
 100 Walgreens Pharmacies Dispensing Highest Quantities of Oxycodone   

(AR-Ex. 229 at 37082 (JA___)): 
 

   

In addition, after being alerted to DEA’s specific concerns about its anti-

diversion efforts at particular stores, Walgreens—in May 2012—completely and 

voluntarily stopped dispensing all Schedule II drugs from eight pharmacies that 

had previously dispensed relatively high volumes of oxycodone.  ISO at 10 

(JA___).    

C. DEA’s Enforcement Actions Against Walgreens 

DEA served Walgreens with an administrative subpoena on April 4, 2012.  

See AR-Ex. 204 at 34229-30 (JA___).  The subpoena requested information 

concerning Walgreens’ handling of controlled substances at the Jupiter Facility and 

June 2012 

April 2011 

Shipments of 
Oxycodone 30mg 
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14 individual pharmacies.  DEA also served administrative inspection warrants for 

multiple Walgreens pharmacies.  The affidavits supporting each warrant 

highlighted the growth in oxycodone sales at each respective store.  Each also 

relied on the exact same boilerplate assertion—unsupported by specific facts—that 

any pharmacy selling large quantities of oxycodone or filling prescriptions written 

by physicians at pain clinics was necessarily facilitating diversion: 

The purchase of large amounts of oxycodone by a retail 
pharmacy is indicative of a pharmacy that fills 
prescriptions issued by physicians at pain clinics and/or a 
pharmacy which services primarily drug seeking 
individuals who abuse the medication.  Investigation has 
shown that these prescriptions are issued outside the 
scope of accepted medical practice and without a 
legitimate medical need and, therefore, are not valid 
prescriptions under the regulations governing the 
dispensing of controlled substances. 

AR-Ex. 3 at 195 (JA___) (emphasis added); AR-Ex. 4 at 203 (JA___); AR-Ex. 5 at 

211 (JA___); AR-Ex. 7 at 231 (JA___); AR-Ex. 8 at 239 (JA___).  The record 

contains no evidence of any DEA medical or other expert review justifying DEA’s 

boilerplate conclusion that all prescriptions issued at pain clinics are illegitimate 

and “issued outside the scope of accepted medical practice.”    

Walgreens cooperated with DEA’s investigation and provided voluminous 

evidence—including undisputed proof that the volume of oxycodone dispensed 

from its Florida pharmacies had fallen significantly as a result of Walgreens’ 

efforts.  AR-Exs. 220-21, 223-30 (JA___).     
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On September 14, 2012, DEA served Walgreens with an order to show 

cause as to why DEA should not permanently revoke the Jupiter Facility’s 

registration to distribute controlled substances in Schedules II-V.5  The same order 

doubled as an ISO immediately suspending the registration pending any 

administrative challenge to the permanent revocation.  The ISO declared that 

Walgreens’ “continued registration is inconsistent with the public interest, as that 

term is defined in 21 U.S.C. §823(b) & (e),” and that such registration “constitutes 

an imminent danger to the public health and safety” under §824(d).  ISO at 1, 12 

(JA___).  At the time, DEA knew that Walgreens had completely stopped 

dispensing any Schedule II controlled substances from the pharmacies that had 

been the chief focus of its investigation.  AR-Ex. 226 at 37066-67 (JA___).   

DEA justified its conclusions in two ways.  First, the ISO claimed that 

Walgreens had “failed to maintain effective controls against the diversion of 

controlled substances into other than legitimate medical, scientific, and industrial 

channels, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §823(b)(1) and (e)(1).”  ISO at 3 (JA___).  It 

pointed to the large quantities of oxycodone purchased by six Walgreens 

pharmacies in 2010 and 2011, noting that these quantities were disproportionately 

                                           
5  DEA’s Miami Field Division requested the ISO in a memorandum to DEA’s 

Associate Chief Counsel.  See AR-Ex. 207 (JA___).  The memorandum contained 
the same boilerplate assertion that any prescriptions issued by physicians at pain 
clinics were necessarily illegitimate and that pharmacies selling large volumes of 
oxycodone must be engaged in diversion.  See id. at 34242 (JA___). 
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large relative to “the average U.S. retail pharmacy,” that the six pharmacies were 

among the top 10 dispensers of oxycodone in Florida in 2011, and that the Jupiter 

Facility was the largest distributor of oxycodone products statewide.  Id. at 2-3, 7, 

8 (JA___).   

DEA also claimed that the Jupiter Facility had violated its duty under 

§823(b)(1) and (e)(1) to maintain effective anti-diversion controls by neglecting 

(1) to “investigat[e]” and “conduct adequate due diligence” of Walgreens’ retail 

stores; (2) to refuse to ship orders flagged as suspicious; and (3) to “verify the 

legitimacy” of each order received from  pharmacies.  Id. at 3, 4, 5, 6-9, 11 

(JA___).  Strikingly, the ISO did not cite a single provision of the CSA or its 

implementing regulations establishing that Walgreens was required to take such 

measures as part of the anti-diversion obligation set forth in §823(b)(1) and (e)(1).  

(As explained below, no such statutory or regulatory requirement exists.  See infra 

at 32-50.) 

Second, the ISO charged Walgreens with failing to identify and report 

“suspicious orders” by its retail pharmacies, as required by 21 C.F.R §1301.74(b).  

ISO at 3 (JA___).  In particular, the ISO (1) criticized Walgreens’ system for 

detecting such orders; (2) alleged that Walgreens had violated the regulations by 

reporting the orders on a monthly basis; and (3) noted that Walgreens had failed to 
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report any suspicious orders in 2012 (as part of a new policy of blocking shipments 

of such orders).  Id. at 4-6 (JA___). 

The ISO conceded that Walgreens had achieved a “significant reduction” in 

dispensing Schedule II controlled substances at its high-volume pharmacies 

beginning in mid-2011.  Id. at 10 (JA___).  It also noted that Walgreens voluntarily 

suspended all dispensing of Schedule II drugs at eight of its pharmacies in May 

2012.  Id.  Nonetheless, it declared that these remedial measures “only slightly 

mitigated” the alleged danger posed by Walgreens’ continued registration.  Id.  

DEA refused to credit Walgreens’ indisputable success in reducing its sales of 

oxycodone in 2011-2012 by dismissing the significance of what it called 

“[v]oluntary dispensing restrictions enacted either in anticipation of, or in reaction 

to regulatory action.”  Id. at 11 (JA___).  DEA also accused Walgreens of 

deliberately avoiding its purported due diligence obligations.  Id. at 11-12 

(JA___).6    

                                           
6  In making this charge, DEA improperly relied on a privileged document that 

Walgreens’ Florida counsel had inadvertently disclosed in response to an 
administrative subpoena.  Walgreens requested DEA return, sequester, or destroy, 
and cease its reliance on, the privileged information.  Ex. 231 (JA___).  DEA 
refused.  Walgreens subsequently filed a motion to compel in the Eastern District 
of Virginia to preserve its attorney-client privilege in connection with the 
document.  On December 21, 2012, the court denied Walgreens’ motion for lack of 
subject-matter jurisdiction and the absence of a cause of action, but did not rule on 
the merits of the privilege claim.  See Mem. Op., In re Admin. Subpoena, No. 1:12-
mc-00043 (E.D. Va. filed Dec. 21, 2012).  Walgreens is considering its further 
options.   
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Walgreens responded to the ISO by filing its petition for review in this Court 

on October 10, 2012.  It also initiated a separate action in the Eastern District of 

Virginia seeking to compel DEA to return various privileged documents 

inappropriately relied upon in the ISO.  See supra at ii.  In addition, Walgreens 

exercised its right to an administrative hearing in response to the order to show 

cause; that hearing is currently scheduled to begin on February 4, 2013.  See In the 

Matter of Walgreen Co., No. 13-1 (DEA filed Sept. 13, 2012).     

Since this case was filed, DEA has issued three new Orders to Show Cause 

seeking to revoke the registrations for specific Walgreens pharmacies identified in 

the ISO at issue here.  See DEA, DEA Serves Order to Show Cause to Three 

Walgreens Pharmacies (Nov. 27, 2012), available at 

http://www.justice.gov/dea/divisions/mia/2012/mia112712.shtml (DEA has chosen 

not to issue any ISOs for those pharmacies.)  These three new DEA administrative 

orders rely on most of the same pharmacy-specific allegations set forth in the ISO 

before this Court.   

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This case involves an abuse of DEA’s emergency power to issue an ISO 

without giving the registrant prior notice or an opportunity to be heard.  The 

Walgreens ISO violates the CSA and DEA’s own binding regulations, rests on an 

unsupported finding of “imminent danger,” and must be vacated.   

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 43 of 81



29 

First, DEA’s legal analysis supporting the ISO conflicts with the plain 

meaning of its own regulations.  Those regulations contain a specific and complete 

list of all the obligations that distributors must satisfy to protect against the 

diversion of controlled substances.  See 21 U.S.C. §823(b)(1), (e)(1); 21 C.F.R. 

§1301.71(a) (noting that DEA Administrator “shall determine” whether registrants 

have established anti-diversion controls using specific standards set forth in 

§§1301.72-1301.76).  But DEA’s main justification for the ISO was its assertion 

that Walgreens violated certain due diligence obligations—including duties to 

investigate pharmacies and halt shipment of any orders deemed to be 

“suspicious”—that do not appear anywhere in the regulations.  ISO at 4-5, 11 

(JA___).  DEA may not flout the clear limits on its own discretion by enforcing 

legal obligations that do not exist.  If it wants to impose new duties on distributors, 

it can amend its regulations using notice-and-comment rulemaking under the APA. 

Until then, it must follow the law on the books. 

Second, DEA arbitrarily and capriciously relied on outdated statistical data 

and other evidence that does not establish the “imminent danger” required by 

§824(d).  The ISO concluded that Walgreens was responsible for the illegitimate 

diversion of oxycodone in 2010 and 2011, but its only evidence of diversion was 

the overall growth in the volume of Walgreens’ sales to its pharmacies during this 

period.  This crude analysis failed to account for the legitimate growth in pharmacy 
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demand for oxycodone sparked by changes in Florida law that made it virtually 

impossible for legitimate patients to obtain this medication directly from their 

doctors.  DEA simplistically and erroneously assumed—without any basis in the 

record—that all of the growth in demand reflected diversion of prescription drugs 

to illegitimate uses. 

Even worse, DEA relied heavily on sales data from 2010 to 2011, even 

though it knew that Walgreens’ supply of oxycodone to its Florida pharmacies had 

already plummeted—by approximately 75% from its mid-2011 peak—before the 

ISO was issued in September 2012.  Moreover, the bulk of the ISO’s “imminent 

danger” analysis focused on the six Walgreens pharmacies that had distributed the 

highest quantities of oxycodone during the 2010-2011 period.  But DEA also knew 

that Walgreens’ Jupiter Facility had ceased distributing oxycodone to any of these 

pharmacies by late May 2012—months before it issued the ISO.   

Finally, DEA also erroneously relied upon evidence that Walgreens had 

committed various technical violations of the regulatory reporting requirements.  If 

these infractions happened at all, they created no risk to the public and are not a 

valid basis for finding “imminent danger.”  DEA has made no attempt to show that 

these alleged technical violations cannot be addressed through its normal 

revocation process—without the need for extraordinary, immediate suspension. 
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STANDING 

Walgreens has suffered a concrete, particularized injury as a direct result of 

the ISO, which immediately suspended the Jupiter Facility’s registration to 

distribute controlled substances.  Vacatur of the ISO will redress that harm, and 

Walgreens therefore has Article III standing.  See, e.g., Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561-63 (1992). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The APA authorizes this Court to set aside agency action that is arbitrary 

and capricious, an abuse of discretion, in excess of statutory authority, without 

observance of procedure required by law, or otherwise not in accordance with law.  

See 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A), (C), (D), (E). 

To decide whether an agency decision is arbitrary and capricious, the Court 

considers whether “the agency [examined] the relevant data and articulate[d] a 

satisfactory explanation for its action including a ‘rational connection between the 

facts found and the choice made.’”  Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of the U.S., Inc. v. 

State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983) (citation omitted).   

Agency action is not in accordance with law if it violates “any law,” 

including that agency’s own regulations.  See generally, e.g., FCC v. NextWave 

Pers. Commc’ns Inc., 537 U.S. 293, 300 (2003); Environmentel, LLC v. FCC, 661 

F.3d 80, 84-85 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (an agency “must comply with its own 
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regulations”); Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps., Local 3090 v. Fed. Labor Relations 

Auth., 777 F.2d 751, 759 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (same).   

Finally, “‘when an agency relies on multiple grounds for its decision, some 

of which are invalid,’” this Court will not sustain the decision unless “‘the agency 

would clearly have acted on [the valid] ground even if the other [invalid grounds] 

were unavailable.’”  Casino Airlines, Inc. v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 439 F.3d 

715, 717-18 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (citation omitted); see also Williams Gas Processing-

Gulf Coast Co. v. FERC, 475 F.3d 319, 329-30 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (same). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE ADMINISTRATOR ACTED CONTRARY TO DEA 
REGULATIONS BY UNILATERALLY IMPOSING NEW 
REQUIREMENTS ON DISTRIBUTORS 

DEA’s principal justification for the ISO was its conclusion that Walgreens 

had shipped—and would continue to ship—large quantities of oxycodone to 

certain pharmacies, in violation of its purported duties to investigate its 

“customers” and to refuse to fill suspicious orders.  See ISO at 3, 4, 5, 6-9, 11 

(JA___).  But this conclusion blames Walgreens for failing to comply with legal 

obligations that do not exist under either the CSA or its implementing regulations.  

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 47 of 81



33 

Because the ISO rests on a justification that is plainly not in accordance with law, 

it must be set aside.7 

A. DEA Regulations Do Not Require Distributors To Investigate 
Registered Pharmacies Or Refuse To Ship Their Orders  

DEA asserts that distributors have an “obligation to conduct meaningful due 

diligence in an investigation of the customer” whenever that customer submits a 

“suspicious order[].”  ISO at 4 (JA___).  DEA further claims that distributors must 

“verify that the order is actually being used to fulfill legitimate medical needs” 

before any order is shipped, and that “[n]o order identified as suspicious should be 

fulfilled until an assessment of the order’s legitimacy is concluded.”  Id.  DEA 

treats these purported obligations as part of the statutory requirement in §823(b)(1) 

and (e)(1) that distributors maintain effective controls against the diversion of 

controlled substances into illegitimate channels.  Id. at 3 (JA___).  Much of the 

ISO is an extended argument that the Jupiter Facility has violated—and will 

continue to violate—these alleged obligations by shipping drug orders without first 

“verify[ing] the[ir] legitimacy.”  Id. at 5 (JA___); see generally id. at 3, 4, 5, 6-9, 

11 (JA___). 

The CSA and its regulations impose differing sets of responsibilities on 

different types of registrants depending on their particular roles in the manufacture, 
                                           

7  Walgreens did conduct meaningful due diligence in compliance with all 
applicable law, as it will demonstrate in the administrative revocation proceedings 
now pending before DEA.  
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distribution, and dispensing of controlled substances.  Notably, they require 

physicians and pharmacists—but not distributors—to assume “responsibility” for 

“proper prescribing and dispensing” of prescription drugs.  21 C.F.R. §1306.04(a).  

In doing so, they recognize that such registrants are the only ones in any position to 

evaluate the legitimacy of patients’ needs for particular medications.   

Requiring distributors to second-guess prescribing and dispensing 

decisions—as DEA tries to do here—would upend this regulatory scheme.8  After 

all, the “legitimacy” of any order of controlled substances turns on whether or not 

the pharmacy’s customers have valid prescriptions to use the drugs for “legitimate 

medical purposes.”  Id. §1306.04(a).  But distributors are not trained as physicians 

or pharmacists, and they have no reasonable way of looking over the shoulder of 

pharmacists and double-checking the validity of each prescription, as DEA 

apparently envisions.  DEA’s approach would impose an impossible obligation on 

distributors that neither the CSA nor the regulations contemplate. 

                                           
8  DEA seeks to hold Walgreens liable for distributing controlled substances 

“to pharmacies that [Walgreens] knew or should have known were dispensing 
those controlled substances pursuant to prescriptions written for other than a 
legitimate medical purpose by practitioners acting outside the usual course of their 
professional practice.”  ISO at 3 (JA___).  Since this case was filed, DEA has 
made essentially the same allegations in the administrative orders relating to the 
three specific Walgreens pharmacies.   See supra at 28.  As the new orders seem to 
recognize, these types of allegations belong in cases against individual pharmacies, 
and not the distributor. 
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To be sure, distributors (and other registrants) do have a legal duty to 

maintain “effective control[s]” against the diversion of controlled substances into 

illegitimate channels.  21 U.S.C. §823(b)(1), (e)(1); see also 21 C.F.R. §1301.71(a) 

(“All applicants and registrants shall provide effective controls and procedures to 

guard against theft and diversion of controlled substances.”).  But the regulations 

establish the specific steps distributors must take to fulfill this duty.  See 21 C.F.R. 

§§1301.71-1301.76.  Those steps do not include verifying the legitimacy of each 

order and/or halting shipment of orders deemed suspicious.  

Most importantly, DEA ignores the second sentence of §1301.71(a).  That 

sentence limits DEA’s discretion and requires it to decide whether a distributor has 

satisfied the statutory anti-diversion duty by looking to whether it has complied 

with the specific requirements of §§1301.72-1301.76. 

In order to determine whether a registrant has provided 
effective controls against diversion, the Administrator 
shall use the security requirements set forth in 
§§1301.72-1301.76 as standards for the physical 
security controls and operating procedures necessary to 
prevent diversion. 

Id. §1301.71(a) (emphasis added).  Under the plain terms of this provision, a 

distributor who complies with §§1301.72-1301.76 has satisfied its anti-diversion 

obligations.  And by requiring the Administrator to use those specific provisions to 

judge compliance, §1301.71(a) prohibits DEA from utilizing other criteria that do 

not appear in the regulation’s text.  See, e.g., Ethyl Corp. v. EPA, 51 F.3d 1053, 
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1058-64 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (interpreting similar language as unambiguously 

forbidding agency to consider unspecified criteria). 

Nothing in §§1301.72-1301.76 requires distributors to verify the legitimacy 

of those orders, or to halt shipment of any orders deemed to be suspicious.   

Indeed, those provisions make clear that a distributor’s due diligence obligations 

are limited to (1) conducting a “good faith inquiry” to verify that the customer has 

a valid DEA registration, see 21 C.F.R. §1301.74(a); and (2) operating a system to 

identify suspicious orders and inform DEA of such orders, see id. §1301.74(b).  

And while those provisions explicitly ban distributors from actually transferring 

controlled substances in certain circumstances—see id. §1301.74(a), (d), (g)—they 

do not prohibit shipment of suspicious orders. 

In short, the ISO is based on Walgreens’ alleged failure to comply with 

purported anti-diversions obligations that do not exist.  DEA’s effort to impose 

new and additional requirements—above and beyond those set forth in §§1301.72-

1301.76—violates §1301.71(a)’s clear limit on the Administrator’s authority.  The 

ISO must therefore be vacated.  See, e.g., Associated Builders & Contractors, Inc. 

v. Herman, 166 F.3d 1248, 1255-56 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (setting aside agency action 

for failure to adhere to regulations). 
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B. DEA Regulations Bar The Administrator From Enforcing Anti-
Diversion Obligations Beyond Those Set Forth In §§1301.72-
1301.76 

DEA will likely argue that §1301.71(a) does not fix the exclusive criteria by 

which to assess compliance with the CSA’s anti-diversion requirement, and that 

DEA is therefore free to impose new obligations beyond those expressly set forth 

in §§1301.72-1301.76.  This Court should reject any such claim as inconsistent 

with the history and text of the regulations. 

First, the regulatory history confirms that §1301.71(a)’s second sentence 

was specifically intended to constrain DEA’s discretion and make clear that a 

distributor’s compliance with §§1301.72-1301.76 would satisfy its anti-diversion 

obligation.  The Justice Department originally proposed draft regulations to 

implement the CSA in March 1971.  See Regulations Implementing the 

Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 36 Fed. Reg. 

4928  (Mar. 13, 1971).  The predecessors to 21 C.F.R. §§1301.71-1301.76 

appeared at §§301.91-301.97 of those draft regulations.  Id. at 4935-36.  The draft 

of §301.91 reiterated the statutory requirement that registrants maintain effective 

controls against diversion, but—unlike §1301.71(a)—it did not explicitly direct the 

Administrator to use any particular standard when assessing their compliance with 

that requirement.  Id. at 4935.  Rather, by failing to provide specific direction, the 
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draft regulation appeared to grant the Administrator broad discretion when 

assessing compliance. 

Crucially, the Justice Department eliminated this discretion in the final 

regulations that it published in April 1971.  See Regulations Implementing the 

Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 36 Fed. Reg. 

7776 (Apr. 24, 1971).  The preamble to the final rule explained that “[m]any 

manufacturers and distributors objected to security controls set forth in §§301.91 to 

301.97,” and that “[m]ost of these paragraphs have been revised to meet the 

objections filed.”  Id. at 7776.  Most importantly, the original §301.9 was modified 

to add the all-important second sentence that Walgreens now relies upon here: “In 

order to determine whether a registrant has provided effective controls against 

diversion, the [Administrator] shall use the security requirements set forth in 

§§301.72-301.76….”  Id. at 7784 (emphasis added) (appearing at §301.71 of the 

final 1971 regulation, and at §1301.71(a) of the current regulations).9 

The Justice Department’s addition of this new sentence was obviously 

intended to clarify the scope of registrants’ anti-diversion obligations.  By 

specifying that the Administrator “shall use” the requirements now appearing at 

§§1301.72-1301.76 to assess compliance, the revised regulation placed a definite 

limit on what would otherwise have been the Administrator’s broad authority to 
                                           

9  Sections 301.72-301.76 would later be renumbered as §§1301.72-1301.76, 
which is how they appear in the current version of the regulations. 
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use any criteria she deemed relevant.  See generally, e.g., United States v. Monzel, 

641 F.3d 528, 531 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 756 (2011) (noting that 

word “shall” imposes a requirement that is “mandatory,” “imperative,” and “not 

merely precatory”).  If DEA had wanted to retain discretion to impose additional 

obligations on registrants, it would simply have left this additional sentence out. 

Moreover, the regulatory history makes clear that the Department added the 

new sentence in response to the “objections” raised by “[m]any manufacturers and 

distributors,” who presumably were uncomfortable with the broad scope of the 

Administrator’s authority as it appeared in the initial draft.  Regulations, 36 Fed. 

Reg. at 7776.  Taken as a whole, this history provides powerful support for 

Walgreens’ view that §1301.71(a) establishes clear limits on the Administrator’s 

discretion.  See, e.g., Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243, 258 (2006) (rejecting 

interpretation of DEA regulation that violated agency’s “‘intent at the time of the 

regulation’s promulgation’” (citation omitted)); Thomas Jefferson Univ. v. Shalala, 

512 U.S. 504, 512 (1994) (looking to agency’s original understanding of 

regulation); Paralyzed Veterans of Am. v. D.C. Arena L.P., 117 F.3d 579, 585 

(D.C. Cir. 1997) (same).10 

                                           
10  The public comments and Department responses filed in connection with the 

1971 rulemaking are not available through any public source.  In early December 
2012, Walgreens formally requested that DEA provide access to those materials, 
which would almost certainly reinforce the argument made above.  DEA agreed to 
facilitate the request, but have apparently not yet been able to locate the materials. 
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Second, the text of §1301.71(a)’s second sentence itself definitively 

establishes that §§1301.72-1301.76 set forth the only anti-diversion requirements 

for distributors.  When a statute or regulation specifies that an agency must make a 

decision using one or more specifically delineated criteria, that formulation 

ordinarily precludes consideration of other criteria that are not listed.  This is a 

straightforward application of the well-established principle expressio unius est 

exclusio alterius (expression of one thing is the exclusion of the other).  See 

generally, e.g., U.S. Term Limits, Inc. v. Thornton, 514 U.S. 779, 793 n.9 (1995) 

(constitutional requirement that Members of House of Representatives “shall” meet 

specific eligibility requirements bars Congress from adopting additional 

requirements beyond those specifically mentioned in the text); Lewis v. Alexander, 

685 F.3d 325, 347 (3d Cir. 2012) (rejecting effort to impose new criteria for special 

needs trusts beyond those explicitly set forth in statute because “where a specific 

list is set forth, it is presumed that items not on the list have been excluded”), 

petition for cert. filed, 81 U.S.L.W. 3234 (U.S. Oct. 11, 2012) (No. 12-470); Indep. 

Ins. Agents of Am., Inc. v. Hawke, 211 F.3d 638, 644 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (“mention of 

one thing implies the exclusion of another thing’” (quoting Ethyl Corp., 51 F.3d at 

1061)).    

This Court has applied the expressio unius principle to limit agency 

discretion in closely analogous circumstances.  In Ethyl Corp., the Court 
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considered the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §7545(f)(4), a provision that empowered the 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Administrator to waive a statutory ban on 

commercializing certain new fuel additives.  51 F.3d at 1057-64.11  The only 

explicit criterion that the statute required the Administrator to consider when 

assessing a waiver request was whether the fuel additive would cause vehicles or 

engines to fail to comply with the emission standards set forth in the Clean Air 

Act.  42 U.S.C. §7545(f)(4).  But the statute did not explicitly bar the 

Administrator from considering other criteria not explicitly mentioned in 

§7545(f)(4).  The Court addressed whether the enumeration of one specific 

criterion implicitly barred the Administrator from denying a waiver based on other 

criteria, such as the waiver’s potential impact on public health.  

The Court rejected EPA’s effort to “apply criteria beyond those prescribed in 

the statute in enforcing the waiver provision.”  Ethyl Corp., 51 F.3d. at 1059.  It 

                                           
11  The statutory provision at issue in Ethyl Corp., 42 U.S.C. §7545(f)(4), 

provided, in relevant part, as follows:  
The Administrator, upon application of any manufacturer 
of any fuel or fuel additive, may waive the prohibitions 
… if he determines that the applicant has established that 
such fuel or fuel additive or a specified concentration 
thereof, and the emission products of such fuel or fuel 
additive or specified concentration thereof, will not cause 
or contribute to a failure of any emission control device 
or system … to achieve compliance by the vehicle or 
engine with the emission standards with respect to which 
it has been certified pursuant to sections 206 and 213(a) 
[42 U.S.C. §§7525 and 7547(a)].  
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explained that Congress had established that waiver decisions must be evaluated 

“based on one criterion”—a fuel additive’s effect on emissions standards—and that 

“[n]owhere in th[e] waiver provision is there any mention of … the Administrator 

determining a fuel additive’s effect on public health.”  Id. at 1058; see also id. at 

1059-60 (rejecting EPA’s “expansive view of its discretion to consider other 

factors not mentioned in the waiver provision”).  It concluded that the 

Administrator had acted contrary to the statute’s plain meaning and that its 

decision must be set aside.  Id. at 1058.  

Precisely the same logic applies here.  Just like the statute in Ethyl Corp., the 

DEA regulations at issue in this case limit agency discretion—here, by specifying 

that DEA must assess compliance with the statutory anti-diversion requirements 

using the standards set forth in §§1301.72-1301.76.  Just as in Ethyl Corp., the 

agency is now flouting the limits on its authority by relying on other criteria, apart 

from those explicitly delineated.  And just as this Court did in Ethyl Corp., it 

should now reject the agency’s effort to expand its authority, and should instead 

require that DEA follow the law as written.12 

                                           
12  Notably, the Court in Ethyl Corp. refused to grant Chevron deference to 

EPA’s interpretation of the relevant language, noting that the statutory text was 
“unambiguous[]” and that Congress had implicitly rejected the use of additional 
criteria for the waiver decision by explicitly directing EPA to assess waiver 
requests by determining the impact on emissions.  51 F.3d at 1058.  For essentially 
the same reasons, DEA is not entitled to deference with respect to its interpretation 
of the regulations here.  See, e.g., Christensen v. Harris Cnty., 529 U.S. 576, 588 
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Third, parallel provisions explicitly giving the Administrator broad authority 

with respect to other decisions confirm that §§1301.72-1301.76 establish the only 

requirements for distributors with respect to their anti-diversion obligations.  For 

example, 21 C.F.R. §1301.34(c) instructs DEA on how to determine whether 

importers of controlled substances are satisfying their anti-diversion obligations.  

In stark contrast to §1301.71(a)’s similar provision governing distributors, 

§1301.34(c) makes clear that the Administrator is allowed to consider additional 

criteria above and beyond those specifically mentioned in the regulation: 

In determining whether [an importer] can and will 
maintain effective controls against diversion …, the 
Administrator shall consider among other factors: 

(1)  Compliance with the security requirements set 
forth in §§1301.71-1301.76; and  
(2)  Employment of security procedures to guard 
against in-transit losses within and without the 
jurisdiction of the United States. 

21 C.F.R. §1301.34(c) (emphasis added).     

Similar catch-all formulations designed to give the Administrator discretion 

appear—over and over again—throughout the DEA regulations.  At least nine 

other provisions require the Administrator to consider certain specifically 

                                                                                                                                        
(2000) (refusing to defer to agency because regulation was “not ambiguous” and 
“[t]o defer to the agency’s position would be to permit the agency, under the guise 
of interpreting a regulation, to create de facto a new regulation”); Fabi Constr. Co. 
v. Sec’y of Labor, 508 F.3d 1077, 1085-89 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (rejecting agency 
interpretation as unreasonable); Fina Oil & Chem. Co. v. Norton, 332 F.3d 672, 
676-79 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (same). 
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enumerated criteria when making a particular decision or determination, yet also 

include a catch-all provision expressly authorizing her to consider other criteria 

that are not enumerated.13  Together, these provisions make clear that when DEA 

regulations grant the Administrator leeway to consider additional, unspecified 

criteria, they do so explicitly. 

Section 1301.71(a)—unlike §1301.34(c) and these other catch-all 

provisions—does not authorize consideration of any “other factors” apart from a 

distributor’s compliance with §§1301.72-1301.76.  DEA’s original decision not to 

include a catch-all provision in §1301.71(a) was clearly deliberate, and must be 

given effect here.  See United States v. Approximately 64,695 Pounds of Shark 

                                           
13  See, e.g., 21 C.F.R. §1301.34(b) (listing factors for DEA to consider when 

determining whether importer’s application is consistent with public interest, but 
including catch-all provision for “[s]uch other factors as may be relevant to and 
consistent with the public health and safety”); id. §1301.74(c) (listing factors, 
“among others,” that registrants should consider when determining whether loss of 
controlled substances is “significant”); id. §1301.76(b) (same); id. §1303.11(b) 
(listing factors for DEA to consider when setting production quotas, but including 
catch-all provision for “[o]ther factors affecting medical, scientific, research, and 
industrial needs … as the Administrator finds relevant”); id. §1303.13(b) (same 
with respect to determination of production quotas); id. §1310.10(d) (listing factors 
Administrator must consider when addressing exemption of drugs from definition 
of “regulated transaction,” but including catch-all provision for “such other factors 
as are relevant to and consistent with the public health and safety”); id. 
§1310.21(c)(4) (same, for determination of whether sale of chemicals will result in 
manufacture of controlled substance); id. §1315.11(b)(5) (listing factors 
Administrator must consider when determining annual needs for certain listed 
chemicals, but including catch-all provision for “[o]ther factors affecting medical, 
scientific, research, and industrial needs in the United States”); id. §1315.13(b) 
(same, for determination of whether to adjust assessment of annual needs).   
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Fins, 520 F.3d 976, 983 (9th Cir. 2008) (“Where an agency includes language in 

one section of the regulation and omits it in another, it is reasonable to presume 

that the agency acted intentionally in forgoing the language.”); cf. Russello v. 

United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983) (applying same presumption to Acts of 

Congress).  After all, if DEA were right that the Administrator can employ 

whatever criteria she wants unless expressly prohibited from doing so, then all of 

the explicit catch-all provisions cited above would be superfluous.  See supra at 

43-44 & n.13.  But “judges should hesitate to treat words in a regulation or statute 

as mere surplusage.”  Petit v. U.S. Dep’t of Educ., 675 F.3d 769, 793 (D.C. Cir. 

2012).   

This Court’s textual analysis in Ethyl Corp. is again instructive.  In 

addressing whether 42 U.S.C. §7545(f)(4) provided the exclusive criteria for the 

EPA Administrator to use when ruling on a request for a waiver, the Court 

compared its text to that of a nearby provision, 42 U.S.C. §7545(c)(1).  Ethyl 

Corp., 51 F.3d at 1061.  It noted (1) that §7545(c)(1) established specific criteria 

governing when the EPA Administrator should decide whether to prohibit or 

control the sale of fuel additives; and (2) that these criteria differed from those in 

§7545(f)(4) governing waiver requests.  Id.  The Court concluded from the 

variation between §7545(f)(4) and §7545(c)(1) that the statute had established a 

“very definite scheme” in which the Administrator “was to consider certain criteria 
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before taking certain actions.”  Id. (emphasis added).  It therefore held that the 

statute prohibited the Administrator from considering factors apart from those 

specifically identified as relevant to each decision.  Id.   

The same is true here.  DEA regulations repeatedly instruct the 

Administrator to make particular decisions based on criteria that are clearly and 

specifically enumerated.  See supra at 43-44 & n.13.  Allowing the Administrator 

to rely on any criteria with respect to any decision would upend that careful and 

deliberate scheme and dramatically expand her already expansive authority. 

Finally, other provisions expressly barring distributors from transferring 

controlled substances in specific circumstances confirm that no such bar applies to 

shipping suspicious orders.  The DEA regulations clearly and explicitly specify the 

precise circumstances in which a distributor is prohibited from transferring 

controlled substances.  See, e.g., 21 C.F.R. §1301.74(a), (d), (g).  None of their 

provisions barring shipment even mentions suspicious orders.  Moreover, the only 

regulation that does address such orders imposes two—and only two—duties on 

distributors: (1) the duty to “design and operate a system to disclose” suspicious 

orders, and (2) the duty to report such orders to DEA.  Id. §1301.74(b).  DEA’s 

effort to impose additional requirements is simply not consistent with the broader 

regulatory scheme. 
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C. DEA Cannot Amend Its Regulations Through Adjudication Or 
Guidance Letters 

For all of the reasons explained above, 21 C.F.R. §1301.71(a) establishes 

that a distributor’s compliance with §§1301.72-1301.76 satisfies its anti-diversion 

obligations under the CSA.  The ISO ignores §1301.71(a), and DEA never tries to 

square its analysis with that provision’s language or history.  Instead, DEA seems 

to rely on two different sources of authority—its own prior decision in Southwood 

Pharms., Inc.; Revocation of Registration, 72 Fed. Reg. 36,487 (July 3, 2007), and 

guidance letters it sent to distributors in 2006 and 2007—to justify the additional 

anti-diversion obligations it faulted Walgreens for allegedly violating.  ISO at 3, 4 

(JA___).  Neither of these sources can amend or otherwise trump the clear 

language of §1301.71(a). 

In Southwood, DEA revoked a distributor’s registration based in part on its 

failure to conduct adequate due diligence on its pharmacy customers.  72 Fed. Reg. 

at 36,498-500.  The decision contained virtually no legal analysis, and it 

completely ignored the second sentence of §1301.71(a).  Though Southwood’s 

reasoning is opaque, the decision appeared to hold the distributor liable for conduct 

that would not have violated the requirements of §§1301.72-1301.76.  In doing so, 
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Southwood violated the express language of §1301.71(a), and is not binding or 

persuasive authority here.14 

It is black-letter administrative law that an agency “must comply with its 

own regulations.”  Environmentel, LLC v. FCC, 661 F.3d 80, 84-85 (D.C. Cir. 

2011).  This rule applies in all contexts, including adjudications.  See, e.g., 

Associated Builders & Contractors, 166 F.3d at 1255-56 (setting aside agency 

action for failure to adhere to agency’s own regulations).  If DEA wants to apply 

Southwood’s approach in future cases, it must amend its binding regulations 

through the process set forth in the APA.  See 5 U.S.C. §553.  As this Court has 

emphasized, “an administrative agency may not slip by the notice and comment 

rule-making requirements needed to amend a rule by merely adopting a de facto 

amendment to its regulation through adjudication.”  Marseilles Land & Water Co. 

v. FERC, 345 F.3d 916, 920 (D.C. Cir. 2003).   

Southwood is also inconsistent with DEA’s prior interpretation of the CSA 

and its regulations.  In 1991, DEA issued its Security Outline of the Controlled 

Substances Act, a manual for registrants that—by its own terms—“outlines the 

steps needed to establish a competent security system which deters diversion and 

reduces accessibility for potential abusers.”  See Office of Diversion Control, U.S. 

                                           
14  The distributor in Southwood did not contest that DEA had established a 

prima facie case supporting revocation of its registration.  Southwood, 72 Fed. Reg. 
at 36,498.   
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DOJ, Security Outline of the Controlled Substances Act of 1970, 

http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/pubs/manuals/sec/message.htm (last visited 

Dec. 19, 2012).  The Outline explains the various “steps needed to establish a 

competent security system which deters diversion” in considerable detail; notably, 

it makes no mention of the new due diligence obligations DEA sought to impose in 

Southwood (or seeks to enforce against Walgreens here).  DEA cannot change its 

interpretation of the CSA and its regulations without acknowledging and providing 

a reasoned explanation for the change.  See, e.g., FCC v. Fox Television Stations, 

Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 515 (2009) (requiring that agency “display awareness that it is 

changing position” and “show that there are good reasons” for the change).  Nor 

may it change its interpretation of its regulations without following the APA’s 

notice-and-comment procedures.  See, e.g., Alaska Prof’l Hunters Ass’n v. FAA, 

177 F.3d 1030, 1033-36 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (barring agency from changing 

interpretation of regulation without notice and comment).  

DEA’s apparent reliance on guidance letters it sent to Walgreens in 2006 

and 2007 is equally unavailing.  Those letters purport to impose additional anti-

diversion requirements on distributors—above and beyond the duties set forth in 

§§1301.71-1301.76.  In doing so, they essentially rewrite those regulations, 

dramatically enhancing the burden on distributors while removing the clear 

constraint on the Administrator set forth in §1301.71(a).  ISO at 3-4 (JA___).  The 
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guidance letters seem to be an unlawful attempt to amend the DEA regulations 

without following the notice-and-comment procedures set forth in the APA, and 

they have no legal force whatsoever.  See, e.g., Shalala v. Guernsey Mem’l Hosp., 

514 U.S. 87, 100 (1995) (explaining that agency must follow APA rulemaking 

procedures if it adopts “a new position inconsistent with” an existing regulation or 

makes “‘a substantive change in the regulations’” (citation omitted)); U.S. Telecom 

Ass’n v. FCC, 400 F.3d 29, 34-35 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (citing Guernsey and other 

cases).  

The bottom line is that DEA’s effort to suspend Walgreens’ registration to 

distribute controlled substances directly contradicts its own governing regulations.  

If DEA wants to change those regulations, it is free to do so pursuant to the APA.  

But DEA cannot take legal action against Walgreens for violating legal obligations 

that do not exist.  Its effort to do so here invalidates the ISO. 

II. THE ADMINISTRATOR’S FINDING OF “IMMINENT DANGER” 
WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS 

Even apart from the legal defects in the ISO, DEA’s finding of “imminent 

danger” under 21 U.S.C. §824(d) was arbitrary and capricious.  By its terms, that 

requirement is satisfied only in emergency situations when there is an immediate 

risk of serious harm to the public.  Here, DEA committed a host of legal and 

factual errors that render the ISO invalid.    
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A. The “Imminent Danger” Requirement Is Satisfied Only In 
Emergency Circumstances When Necessary To Address An 
Immediate Risk Of Harm To The Public 

The CSA grants DEA the extraordinary right to suspend a registration 

immediately and without giving the registrant prior notice or opportunity to be 

heard.  See 21 U.S.C. §824(d).  Such immediate suspension is authorized only in 

emergency situations when the Administrator finds that “there is an imminent 

danger to the public health or safety.”  Id. (emphasis added).  If no such danger 

exists, DEA may revoke a registration only with prior notice and a fair hearing 

under the APA.  Id. §824(c). 

By definition, the “imminent danger” standard requires an immediate threat 

that is presently at hand.  The Supreme Court has noted in several different 

contexts that the plain meaning of “imminent” is “‘threaten[s] to occur 

immediately,’” Meghrig v. KFC W., Inc., 516 U.S. 479, 485 (1996) (alteration in 

original) (emphasis added) (citation omitted), and that an “imminent” danger must 

therefore “immediately imperil” the subject of the harm, Craig v. Harney, 331 U.S. 

367, 376 (1947) (emphasis added).  By definition, the harm must be present right 

now: A danger that is “imminent” must be “likely to occur at any moment: 

impending,” Random House Dictionary of the English Language 957 (2d ed. 

1987), “about to occur,” American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 
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877 (4th ed. 2000), or “ready to take place: near at hand,” Webster’s Third New 

International Dictionary 1130 (1993).   

Allegations of past harm are not themselves sufficient to establish an 

“imminent danger.”  There is little case law interpreting the CSA’s “imminent 

danger” standard, but courts examining the identical phrase in the Prison Litigation 

Reform Act have consistently held that alleging a “past danger” is not enough.  See 

generally Brown v. Johnson, 387 F.3d 1344, 1349 (11th Cir. 2004) (interpreting 28 

U.S.C. §1915(g) and citing cases from across courts of appeals).  This Court has 

itself rejected a claim of “imminent danger,” based on 17-month-old allegations of 

harm, after concluding that the past injury did not establish “any ongoing threat.”  

Mitchell v. Fed. Bureau of Prisons, 587 F.3d 415, 421 (D.C. Cir. 2009); see also 

Meghrig, 516 U.S. at 485 (holding that statutory provision triggered when a 

hazardous waste “‘may present an imminent and substantial endangerment’” to 

public safety “quite clearly excludes waste that no longer presents such a danger” 

(emphasis added) (citation omitted)). 

The CSA recognizes that DEA’s authority to revoke a registration is an 

extraordinary power to be used only in truly exigent situations.  The Constitution’s 

Due Process Clause allows the Government to deprive persons of their liberty or 

property without prior notice or opportunity to be heard only in “extraordinary 

circumstances” involving a “special need for very prompt action.”  United States v. 

USCA Case #12-1397      Document #1411758            Filed: 12/26/2012      Page 67 of 81



53 

E-Gold, Ltd., 521 F.3d 411, 416-17 (D.C. Cir. 2008).  Section 824(d)’s “imminent 

danger” requirement is “indispensable” to protecting this core constitutional right.  

Norman Bridge Drug Co. v. Banner, 529 F.2d 822, 828 (5th Cir. 1976).  For all of 

these reasons—statutory and constitutional—this Court must subject the 

Administrator’s finding of imminent danger to especially close scrutiny.15 

B. The Administrator’s “Imminent Danger” Finding Rested On 
Significant Errors Of Law And Fact 

DEA concluded that Walgreens’ Jupiter Facility poses an “imminent 

danger” to the public health and safety based on the facts discussed in the ISO.  See 

ISO at 1, 12 (JA___).  That conclusion was arbitrary and capricious because it (1) 

rested on unreasonable assumptions about diversion; (2) failed to assess whether 

danger actually existed in September 2012; and (3) relied on alleged technical 

violations that cannot constitute “imminent danger” as a matter of law.  Each of 

these errors undermines DEA’s totality-of-the-circumstances analysis and provides 

an independent reason for vacating the ISO.   

                                           
15  Close scrutiny is also warranted because a virtually identical “imminent 

danger” standard governs DEA’s right to conduct administrative searches of 
registrants’ property without first obtaining a warrant.  See 21 U.S.C. §880(c)(2).  
This Court should not interpret the CSA “imminent danger” requirement in any 
way that would call into question §880(c)(2)’s validity under the Fourth 
Amendment.   
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1. DEA Improperly Treated Sales Volume As Per Se Evidence 
Of Diversion 

DEA’s entire critique of Walgreens’ anti-diversion efforts rested on a flawed 

statistical analysis that failed to account for Florida’s evolving drug policies or the 

particular characteristics of Walgreens’ pharmacies.  Most of the ISO emphasized 

the large growth of the Jupiter Facility’s supply of oxycodone to six pharmacies in 

2010 and 2011.  ISO at 2, 3, 7, 8, 10 (JA___).  But DEA simply assumed—without 

foundation, and contrary to the evidence—that the growth of oxycodone sales in 

this period was per se evidence of diversion constituting an “imminent danger” to 

the public.  Id. at 3, 8, 10 (JA___).   

DEA’s conclusion is not supported by the data.  As DEA itself has 

recognized, the new demand for oxycodone from pharmacies was the inevitable 

product of DEA’s effort to crack down on pain clinics and Florida’s decision to 

pass legislation prohibiting those clinics (along with doctors generally) from 

directly dispensing medications.  See supra at 16-18.  The obvious result of this 

new policy was to force patients to begin purchasing their drugs from pharmacies.  

Id. at 18-20.   

DEA assumed—unreasonably and without any statistical analysis—that any 

prescription issued by a pain clinic had been issued “outside the scope of accepted 

medical practice and without a legitimate medical need” and was therefore “not 

valid.”  See supra at 24 (citing warrant requests); id. at 25 n.5 (citing Jupiter 
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Facility ISO request).  It directly relied on this assumption when concluding that 

the growth in demand for oxycodone at Walgreens’ pharmacies constituted 

evidence of diversion.  Id. at 24-25; see also ISO at 3, 8, 10 (JA___).   

DEA’s assumption ignored the fact that many of these patients had 

legitimate medical needs for oxycodone, as determined by their doctors.  The idea 

that all prescriptions from pain clinics are invalid defies common sense.  It is in 

deep tension with DEA’s own prior recognition that “the overwhelming majority 

of American physicians who prescribe controlled substances” do so “for legitimate 

medical purposes” and “in a legitimate manner.”  Dispensing Controlled 

Substances, 71 Fed. Reg. at 52,719.  Indeed, DEA’s own oxycodone production 

quota—which DEA establishes to “avoid the overproduction of these substances” 

and to “reduc[e] the risk of diversion,” Leonhart Statement at 4—has more than 

doubled over the last seven years.16   

By relying on plainly unreasonable assumptions, DEA punished Walgreens 

on the basis of drugs that were not diverted and that in fact helped pharmacies and 

doctors ease the suffering of patients in need.  DEA’s failure to take into account 

the massive rise in legitimate demand for oxycodone from pharmacies renders its 

“imminent danger” finding arbitrary and capricious.  See State Farm, 463 U.S. at 
                                           

16  See Final Revised Aggregate Production Quotas for 2006, 71 Fed. Reg. 
61,803, 61,804 (Oct. 19, 2006) (56,000,000 grams); Established Aggregate 
Production Quotas for 2013, 77 Fed. Reg. 59,980, 59,983 (Oct. 1, 2012) 
(131,500,000 grams). 
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43 (noting that agency action must be set aside if it “entirely fail[s] to consider an 

important aspect of the problem”); see also Tr. of Oral Arg. at 28, Holiday CVS, 

LLC v. Holder, Nos. 12-1128, 12-5072 (D.C. Cir. Sept. 12, 2012) (Williams, J.) 

(“Holiday Tr.”) (ADD-76) (noting that pharmacy’s desire to avoid withholding 

medications from legitimate patients “seems to me a serious concern which I don’t 

see playing any role whatever in the DEA’s approach to [a similar ISO]”). 

DEA also erred by treating Walgreens’ market share as a valid proxy for 

diversion.  The ISO repeatedly justified the “imminent danger” finding by 

emphasizing Walgreens’ large share of the market for oxycodone in Florida, see 

ISO at 2, 7, 10, 11 (JA___), and by noting that Walgreens’ pharmacies made larger 

purchases of oxycodone than the “average” pharmacy in Florida or in the United 

States more broadly, see id. at 10 (JA___).  

This type of data is worthless as evidence of diversion. It proves nothing 

about whether the Jupiter Facility allowed oxycodone to fall into the wrong hands 

or otherwise created an imminent danger to the public, and it fails to control for 

other factors—entirely unrelated to diversion—that may explain Walgreens’ high 

sales volume relative to other pharmacies.  Members of this Court have repeatedly 

criticized DEA for justifying similar ISOs with exactly the same sort of 

“embarrassingly weak,” “junk” data.  Holiday Tr. at 21, 22 (Williams, J.) (ADD-

69, 70) (calling DEA’s misuse of statistics “shameful” and “the crudest thing I’ve 
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ever seen”); Novelty, Inc. v. DEA, 571 F.3d 1176, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (Brown, 

J., dissenting); see also id. at 1184 n.15 (Henderson, J., concurring); id. at 1189-90 

(Tatel, J., concurring).  DEA repeated that mistake here.  

2. DEA Relied On Outdated Allegations Of Past Misconduct 
And Failed Adequately To Consider The Sharp Decline In 
Oxycodone Sales 

DEA treated Walgreens’ allegedly insufficient anti-diversion controls in 

2010-2011 as a major factor in establishing an “imminent danger” in September 

2012, when it issued the ISO.  ISO at 3-11 (JA___).  Indeed, almost its entire 

analysis focused on showing that Walgreens facilitated the diversion of oxycodone 

to certain high-volume pharmacies during the 2010-2011 period.  See ISO at 2-3, 

7, 8 (JA___) (emphasizing Jupiter Facility’s role in dispensing oxycodone to six 

Walgreens pharmacies from 2009 to 2011); id. at 5-10 (JA___) (anecdotal 

evidence of weak anti-diversion controls during same period).  DEA’s reliance on 

this obsolete data—and its unwillingness to properly credit Walgreens’ extensive 

and successful efforts to reduce oxycodone sales by September 2012—was error. 

First, as explained in detail above, evidence of past misconduct is not 

sufficient, on its own, to establish that a danger is imminent.  See supra at 51-53.  

The ISO’s extensive reliance on allegations of past misconduct was therefore 

clearly improper under 21 U.S.C. §824(d). 
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To be sure, the ISO also purported to rely on Walgreens’ past conduct as a 

basis for predicting its future behavior.  See ISO at 10-11 (JA___).  But if this sort 

of predictive allegation were enough to establish an “imminent danger” under the 

CSA, then DEA would have the right to immediately suspend, without prior notice 

or a hearing, any CSA registration belonging to any distributor who had ever 

violated any DEA regulation at any time.  DEA would also be free to subject such 

distributors to warrantless searches and seizures at its whim.  See 21 U.S.C. 

§880(c)(2).  If validated, the Administrator’s interpretation of what constitutes an 

“imminent danger” would transform the extraordinary, emergency authority 

granted in §824(d) into an all-purpose tool for DEA to use as a matter of course.  

The Court should reject such an approach, which would “swallow the rule” for 

ordinary revocation proceedings set forth in the CSA.  Mitchell, 587 F.3d at 421-22 

(discussing “imminent danger” exception to rule barring abusive in forma pauperis 

filings).17   

Second, DEA’s reliance on Walgreens’ alleged 2010-2011 misconduct was 

especially arbitrary in light of the clear evidence—which DEA acknowledged—that 

Walgreens had curtailed oxycodone sales by the time DEA issued the ISO in 

                                           
17  See also, e.g., Abdul-Akbar v. McKelvie, 239 F.3d 307, 315 (3d Cir. 2001) 

(en banc) (rejecting argument that “imminent danger” exception to Prison 
Litigation Reform Act can be satisfied based on past danger, as doing so would 
“engraft[] an open-ended exception that would eviscerate” the otherwise applicable 
rule against abusive filings). 
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September 2012.  The ISO itself conceded that “[i]n mid to late 2011 and 

continuing into 2012, Walgreens undertook to reduce the volume of oxycodone 

dispensing at its high-volume pharmacies” and that it “did, in fact, achieve a 

significant reduction in Schedule II dispensing at these stores.”  ISO at 10 (JA___).  

The record shows a massive decline of oxycodone shipments from the Jupiter 

Facility to Walgreens’ 100  pharmacies that had previously dispensed the highest 

quantities of that medication.  See Chart #3, supra at 23.  And the ISO itself noted 

that Walgreens had completely suspended dispensing Schedule II drugs at eight of 

its pharmacies—including all six of the pharmacies identified in the ISO.  ISO at 

10-11 (JA___). 

The record thus conclusively establishes that well before DEA served 

Walgreens with the subpoena and inspection warrants in April 2012, Walgreens 

had already implemented significant efforts to resolve the issues that would 

eventually form the basis of the ISO.  See supra at 19, 20-23.  Walgreens’ actions 

eliminated any “imminent danger” that might otherwise have existed.  See Bates 

Drug Stores, Inc. v. Holder, No. CV-11-0167-EFS, 2011 WL 1750066, at *3 & n.4 

(E.D. Wash. May 6, 2011) (restraining DEA from enforcing ISO because the 

registrant’s successful pre-ISO remedial measures gave the court “serious doubts 

that the alleged violations, which [the registrant] has been diligently working to 

correct, pose an imminent danger to public health and safety”); cf. Keysource Med., 
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Inc. v. Holder, No. 1:11-cv-393, 2011 WL 3608097, at *7 (S.D. Ohio Aug. 16, 

2011) (noting that post-investigation remedial measures can eliminate any 

“imminent danger”).18 

Nonetheless, DEA asserted that Walgreens’ remedial actions “only slightly” 

mitigated the danger posed by its alleged prior misconduct.  ISO at 10 (JA___).  It 

justified this claim by noting that Walgreens continues to supply significant 

quantities of oxycodone to its other pharmacies throughout Florida.  Id. at 10-11 

(JA___).  But the ISO did not point to a single piece of evidence that any diversion 

had occurred at any of these other pharmacies at any time—not even in 2010-2011.  

DEA’s “vague” and “unspecific” fear of diversion at these other pharmacies is 

clearly insufficient to support a finding of “imminent danger.”  Mitchell, 587 F.3d 

at 421-22. 

DEA also discounted the sharp reduction in oxycodone sales on the grounds 

that “[v]oluntary dispensing restrictions enacted either in anticipation of, or in 

reaction to regulatory action, do not indicate … that [Walgreens] ha[s] recognized 

and adequately reformed the systemic shortcomings discussed herein.”  ISO at 11 

(JA___).  This is simply another way of saying that there is nothing Walgreens 

                                           
18  Indeed, DEA did not issue ISOs against the three Florida Walgreens 

pharmacies whose registrations it is now seeking to revoke.  See supra at 28.  This 
is presumably because DEA recognizes that Walgreens has ceased dispensing 
controlled substances from these pharmacies—and that there is accordingly no 
“imminent danger” under §824(d). 
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could have done after 2011 to resolve DEA’s concerns about an “imminent 

danger” of diversion.  DEA’s blanket refusal to consider Walgreens’ successful 

efforts to address the specific concerns raised in the ISO was arbitrary and 

capricious.19   

 

 

 

 

 

  DEA based this allegation—which is false—on a privileged document 

that Walgreens’ Florida counsel inadvertently disclosed in response to a DEA 

subpoena.  AR-Ex. 231 (JA___).  DEA’s reliance on that document was itself 

arbitrary and capricious.  In any event, nothing in that document undermines the 

undisputed evidence showing the dramatic reduction in the Jupiter Facility’s 

distribution of oxycodone. 

In short, DEA’s “imminent danger” finding was based on outdated evidence 

that it knew bore essentially no relationship to the Jupiter Facility’s distribution 

                                           
19  Even if the Administrator’s stated grounds for discounting the reduction 

could be valid in theory, the record here shows that the sharp reductions in 
oxycodone distribution and sales began in mid-2011, well before Walgreens 
received the DEA subpoena in April 2012.  DEA has identified no evidence that 
Walgreens either knew of, or anticipated, a DEA enforcement action at that time. 
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activities in September 2012.  DEA has every right to litigate its specific 

allegations of Walgreens’ past conduct in the pending administrative proceeding 

on revocation.  But those allegations—which Walgreens had fully resolved before 

DEA issued the ISO—cannot serve as the basis of an “imminent danger” finding 

under §824(d).  

3. DEA Relied On Alleged Technical Violations Of Reporting 
Requirements  

DEA also erred by basing its finding of “imminent danger” on Walgreens’ 

alleged failure to comply with 21 C.F.R. §1301.74(b).  That provision establishes a 

technical reporting requirement that obliges distributors to inform DEA of 

“suspicious orders.”  21 C.F.R. §1301.74(b).  Though compliance with the 

provision is undeniably important, the technical violations alleged by DEA cannot 

support any finding of “imminent danger” under §824(d). 

First, failing to comply with §1301.74(b)’s reporting obligation is not 

inherently dangerous.  It has no effect on any actual shipment of controlled 

substances, and there is no reason to think that the failure to report affects public 

health or safety in any immediate or concrete way that constitutes an “imminent” 

danger under §824(d).   

Second, most of DEA’s §1301.74(b) analysis relied on Walgreens’ failure to 

comply before 2012.  See ISO at 3-4, 5-6 (JA___).  But mere allegations of past 

misconduct can never support a finding of imminent danger.  See supra at 51-53.  
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And the particular allegations here—that Walgreens’ suspicious order reports 

should have contained additional detail, or should have been reported daily instead 

of monthly, see ISO at 5-6 (JA___)—are entirely disconnected from any danger 

that may have existed at the time DEA issued the ISO in September 2012. 

Finally, Walgreens’ alleged failure to file a suspicious order report in 2012 

is likewise insufficient to establish an “imminent danger.”  Id. at 5-6, 10 (JA___).  

Throughout the entire period in question, DEA received detailed monthly reports 

listing every distribution of Schedule II (and certain Schedule III) substances from 

the Jupiter Facility to Walgreens’ individual pharmacies.  See 21 C.F.R. 

§1304.33(c), (e).  Moreover, as DEA itself notes, Walgreens ceased reporting 

suspicious orders in 2012 because it had implemented a Controlled Substance 

Order Monitoring and Shipment Prevention System that would prevent any 

suspicious order from actually being shipped to the customer.  Id. at 5 (JA___).  

Even if DEA is right that Walgreens should have continued to report suspicious 

(unfilled) orders, see id. at 6 (JA___), its decision to halt shipment of such orders 

makes entirely clear that any technical violation of §1301.74(b) did not endanger 

the public and therefore cannot support a finding of “imminent danger” under 

§824(d).20 

                                           
20  In the pending administrative proceeding addressing the permanent 

revocation of the Jupiter Facility’s registration, Walgreens will establish that it was 
instructed by DEA to cease providing its monthly suspicious order reports. 
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CONCLUSION 

Walgreens takes its obligations under the CSA seriously, and it is committed 

to resolving any legitimate concerns DEA has about its distribution practices.  But 

DEA’s understandable desire to halt the diversion of oxycodone and other 

controlled substances cannot justify its blatant disregard for the limits on its 

authority imposed by the CSA and its own regulations.  For each of the reasons set 

forth above, this Court should vacate the ISO. 
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